# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-25-2013

# Corgatelli v. Steel West Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41012

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

The Industrial Commission found the Claimant, Gary R. Corgatelli ("Claimant") to be totally and permanently disabled. The Commission also found that the Industrial Special Indemnity Fund ("ISIF") liability had been established. Therefore, Claimant's total and permanent disability benefits are to be paid pursuant to the *Carey* formula by ISIF and Employer, Defendants/Respondents-Cross Respondents, Steel West Inc. ("Steel West") and its surety, Idaho State Insurance Fund ("Surety"). The Commission ordered Steel West/Surety to pay the sum of \$99,599.78 and ISIF to pay the balance of Claimant's lifetime total and permanent disability benefits. There have been two separate appeals filed in this case.

#### 1. Claimant's Appeal

On April 5, 2013, the Commission entered an Order to Clarify granting Steel West/Surety a **credit** for the permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits paid to the Claimant. These PPI benefits where paid in relationship to Claimant's 2005 accident and calculate to the sum of \$22,398.75. Claimant appeals the Commission's Order to Clarify to this Court. Claimant submits that this is a question of law that is to be decided by this Court.

Claimant concedes that based upon the Commission's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order dated July 26, 2012 ("Order"), Steel West/Surety has made an overpayment of PPI benefits to him in the sum of \$10,444.75 and they should be given a credit for this overpayment. However, Steel West/Surety should not be given a credit for the 8% in PPI payments Claimant was paid in 2006 and 2007 in the sum of \$11,946.00, against their \$99,599.78 total and permanent disability benefit obligation to the Claimant. Therefore, Claimant's appeal to this Court concerns this \$11,946.00 in disputed PPI benefits.

1

Claimant believes that this is an issue of first impression before the Idaho Supreme Court. Claimant could not locate one reported case either before this Court or the Commission where the surety was given a credit for prior PPI benefits paid, to be deducted against the surety's obligation to pay total and permanent disability benefits. Moreover, Claimant's counsel is not aware of any surety who has ever asked for a credit for PPI benefits that have been paid prior to a finding by the Commission that a given claimant is totally and permanently disabled. This is a new credit that the Surety is requesting in this case. This request of a new credit is significant because a number of claimants, who are awarded total and permanent disability benefits, have been paid PPI benefits for their last accident at some time prior to the finding of their total and permanent disability. Therefore, sureties and claimants around the state of Idaho are going to be interested in the outcome of this appeal because it will have a significant impact on many future total and permanent disability claims.

#### 2. ISIF's Appeal

The appeal brought by ISIF arises out of the Commission's Order dated July 26, 2012, holding that the Claimant had proven that he was totally and permanently disabled as of August 4, 2010. The Commission found ISIF liability had been established. ISIF appeals from this decision and asks this Court **who** should pay the Claimant his total and permanent disability benefits, not whether the Claimant is entitled to total and permanent disability benefits. Neither Steel West, nor its surety, Idaho State Insurance Fund, nor ISIF appealed the Commission's decision finding the Claimant to be totally and permanently disabled as a result of injuries the Claimant suffered while employed with Steel West.

ISIF argued at hearing that the Claimant became totally and permanently disabled <u>solely</u> as a result of his last industrial accident, which excused ISIF from any liability in this case. Steel

West/Surety argued that the Claimant's pre-existing back injury combined with his back injury from the last industrial accident and left the Claimant totally and permanently disabled.

The Commission agreed with Steel West/Surety and found that the back injury from the last industrial accident combined with the Claimants pre-existing back injury and rendered the Claimant totally and permanently disabled. Thus, ISIF's liability was established. ISIF has now appealed the Commission's Order to this Court and has asked this Court to determine who should pay the claimant his total and permanent disability benefits. Claimant will respond to ISIF's appeal in a reply brief as a Cross Respondent.

## **B.** COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

On July 15, 2009, Claimant filed a worker's compensation Complaint against Steel West/Surety arising from a January 3, 2005 accident while working at Steel West. R., p 1, 9.<sup>1</sup> In the Complaint, Claimant claimed entitlement to workers compensation benefits, including total and permanent disability benefits. R., p. 1, 9. Steel West/Surety filed a timely Answer to the complaint. R., p. 4.

Claimant also filed a Complaint against ISIF on January 26, 2011. R., p. 8. ISIF filed a timely Answer to the Complaint. R., p. 12.

The Commission assigned the case to Referee Alan Taylor, who conducted a hearing in Pocatello on November 23, 2011. R., p. 17. Referee Taylor submitted his recommendation to the Commission. The Commission received Referee Taylor's recommendation, but chose not to adopt it. R., p. 18. Instead, on July 26, 2012, the Commission issued its own Order. R., p. 18. In its Order, the Commission found Claimant to be totally and permanently disabled with a total PPI rating of 15%, with 5% referable to Claimant's 1994 accident and 10% referable to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There is only one volume in the record, therefore, Claimant with dispense with the portion of Rule 35(e), under the Idaho Appellate Rules, of listing the volume number.

Claimant's 2005 accident. R., p. 41. The Commission ordered Steel West/Surety to pay Claimant 333.5 weeks of total and permanent disability benefits or \$99,599.78 under the *Carey* formula. R., p. 37, 42. Lastly, the Commission held that Steel West/Surety was not entitled to any reduction for the lump sum payment of \$27,348.75 in PPI and Permanent Partial Disability (PPD) benefits it paid Claimant after his 1994 accident. R., p. 41. The Commission stated that such a reduction would result in a "windfall" and "is contrary to the policies underlying Idaho's workers' compensation laws." R., p. 41.

Following the Commission's Order, Steel West/Surety filed a Motion for Reconsideration and Clarification. R., p. 44. Steel West/Surety's Motion was accompanied by an affidavit and supporting brief. R., p. 48, 54. Later, an Amended Brief was filed by Steel West/Surety. R., p. 65. In the Amended Brief, Steel West/Surety acknowledged that they were not entitled to any credit for previous benefits paid as a result of Claimant's 1994 accident. R., p. 66. However, Steel West/Surety did assert that they were entitled to a credit based upon the prior \$22,398.75 in PPI benefits Surety paid to Claimant as a result of the 2005 injury. R., p. 66, 68. Steel West/Surety argued that they were justified in this request based upon Idaho Code § 72-332, § 72-316 and § 72-406(2). R., p. 68.

Claimant filed an objection to the Motion for Reconsideration and Clarification and provided his own supporting affidavit and brief. R., p. 71, 75, 80.

The Commission took the issue under advisement and on April 5, 2013, issued an Order to Clarify its previous Order. R., p. 89. In its Order to Clarify, the Commission granted Steel West/Surety's Motion and gave them a \$22,398.75 credit to apply to their share of Claimant's total and permanent disability benefits. R., p. 89-90. The Commission based its decision to reduce the total and permanent disability benefits award to Claimant on Idaho Code § 72-425, which Steel West/Surety never argued in its Motion for Reconsideration and Clarification. R.,

p. 90. The Commission concluded that Claimant's total and permanent disability benefits are inclusive of his PPI benefits from the 2005 accident, and therefore, Steel West/Surety are entitled to credit for all previous PPI payments paid. R, p. 90.

Claimant filed a Notice of Appeal on May 13, 2013, appealing the Commission's Order to Clarify. R., p. 92. On the same day, ISIF also filed a Notice of Appeal, cross appealing the Commission's Order rendered on July 26, 2012. R., p. 96.

# C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### 1. Claimant Gary Corgatelli's Background

In 1973, Claimant began a very long and enjoyable career working for Steel West as a fitter and welder. R., p. 20, (see para. 3). During his career with Steel West, he became very successful in the business. R., p. 20, (see para. 3). This led to several promotions. R., p. 20, (see para. 3). The first came in the early 1980's when Claimant was promoted to lead man on his crew. R., p. 20, (see para. 3). Later, he was promoted to shipping and receiving, and paint foreman. R., p. 20, (see para. 3). This is where things began to take an unfortunate turn for Claimant.

#### 2. Claimant's 1994 Accident

In 1994, Claimant experienced his first serious work related injury. R., p. 20, (see para. 4). Claimant was pushing a load of steel off a delivery truck for Steel West when he injured his back. R., p. 20, (see para. 4). After the injury, Claimant met with and was examined by several different medical doctors. R., p. 5-7. On October 11, 1995, Claimant met with Dr. Fields who awarded Claimant with a 5% PPI rating attributed solely to the 1994 accident. R., p. 23, (see para. 10). Upon receiving notice of the 5% PPI rating, Steel West/Surety entered into a lump sum agreement with Claimant in the amount of \$27,500.00. R., p. 23, (see para. 11); Joint Exhibit "U" at 6.

Following his injury, Claimant attempted to return to his former position at Steel West. R., p. 23, (see para. 12). However, the lingering effects of his injury rendered him unable to perform the former job duties. R., p. 23, (see para. 12). Therefore, he accepted a lower paying position with Steel West as safety director. R., p. 23, (see para. 12).

#### 3. Claimant's 2005 Accident

In 2005, things got worse for Claimant as he experienced a second serious injury while working for Steel West. R., p. 24, (see para. 13). As Claimant was stepping down off a semitruck at work, he slipped on a piece sheet metal covered in snow. R., p. 24, (see para. 13). As his front foot slid forward on the sheet metal, his back foot caught the bottom step of the truck, causing Claimant's legs to be split apart. R., p. 24, (see para. 13). Eventually, Claimant's legs gave way, forcing him to the ground. R., p. 24, (see para. 13). Claimant's lower back took the brunt force of the impact, as it connected with the hard sheet metal. R., p. 24, (see para. 13). Claimant again sought medical treatment for his back. R., p. 24, (see para. 13).

Claimant underwent surgery by Dr. Allen in May 2005. R., p. 26, (see para. 15). Several months later, in December of 2005, Claimant met with Dr. Himmler. R., p. 26, (see para. 17). During the examination, Dr. Himmler awarded him a 13% PPI rating for his 2005 back injury. Joint Exhibit "G" at 4. Dr. Himmler later reduced the 13% PPI rating to 8% PPI rating for the 2005 back injury. Joint Exhibit "G" at 14. However, Dr. Himmler added in an additional 5% PPI rating, related to the 2005 accident, for Claimant's sexual dysfunction and bladder dysfunction, for a total of 13% PPI rating. Joint Exhibit "G" at 14. The Surety paid Claimant this 13% in PPI benefits for a total of \$19,412.25. Joint Exhibit "V" at 5. The Surety accomplished this by making monthly PPI benefit payments to the Claimant of \$1,297.71 beginning in February of 2006 and continuing each month thereafter until March or 2007 and a final PPI benefit payment of \$1,244.31 in April of 2007. Joint Exhibit "V" at 5.

As time passed, Claimant's back injury gradually got worse. R., p. 26, (see para. 18); Joint Exhibit "D" at 48. Claimant decided something had to be down, so he met with Dr. Allen on February 18, 2009, to discuss surgical options. R., p. 28, (see para. 22). Dr. Allen recommended surgery. R., p. 28, (see para. 22); Joint Exhibit "D" at 48-49. On April 6, 2009, Claimant underwent a three level lumbar fusion surgery performed by Dr. Allen. R., p. 28, (see 22); Joint Exhibit "D" at 51.

After the surgery, Claimant and Steel West agreed that Claimant could no longer perform any job at Steel West because of his limitations. R., p. 30, (see para. 28). Thus, Claimant began pursuing other job opportunities. R., p. 30, (see para. 28). In all, Claimant applied for or inquired about work for over "125 businesses in his geographic area," receiving less than 10 interviews, and not one single job offer. R., p. 30, (see para. 28).

On July 15, 2009, Claimant filed a workers compensation Complaint requesting total and permanent disability benefits. R., p. 1, 9. On August 4, 2010, Claimant met with Dr. Simon, IME doctor for Steel West/Surety, who concluded that Claimant had reached maximum medical improvement and awarded Claimant with a 15% whole person impairment rating, which appeared to be attributed to the 2005 accident. R., p. 29, (see para. 26). However, Dr. Simon did not clarify whether Claimant's PPI rating should be apportioned between the 2005 and 1994 accident or the 2005 accident alone. R., p. 29, (see para. 26). This caused some confusion in that Dr. Fields had previously awarded Claimant a 5% whole person impairment rating based solely upon the 1994 back injury, and Dr. Himmler had previously awarded Claimant a 8% whole person impairment rating based solely upon the 2005 back injury. R., p. 23, (see para. 10); Joint Exhibit "G" at 14. Thus, it would appear that the 15% whole person impairment was attributable to both the 1994 and 2005 accidents.

After Dr. Simon assigned the 15% PPI rating, the Surety made an additional 2% in PPI benefit payments to the 13% it already paid. This additional 2% in PPI benefits calculated to \$2,986.50 and were paid to Claimant in September 2010 and October 2010. Joint Exhibit "V" at 5. Thus, in all, Steel West/Surety has paid Claimant \$22,398.75 in PPI benefits. R., p. 53; Joint Exhibit "V" at 5.

Claimant filed a Complaint against ISIF on January 26, 2011. R., p. 8. ISIF filed a timely Answer to the Complaint. R., p. 12.

The confusion in regard to Dr. Simons 15% PPI rating was cleared up at his deposition after he indicated that although he found Claimant to have a 15% impairment rating, 10% of it was attributable to the 2005 accident, whereas 5% of it was attributable to the 1994 accident. R., p. 32, (see para. 34).

#### 4. The Commission's Decision

On July 26, 2012, the Commission issued its Order, concluding that Claimant was totally and permanently disabled. R., p. 37, (see para. 48). The Commission found ISIF's liability had been established. R., p. 41. Under the *Carey* formula Steel West/Surety were responsible to pay Claimant 333.5 weeks of total and permanent disability benefits or \$99,599.78. R., p. 42.

On August 14, 2012, Steel West/Surety filed their Motion for Reconsideration and Clarification. R., p. 44. In that motion Steel West/Surety moved the Commission for reconsideration and clarification of the Commission's July 26, 2012 Order. R., p. 46. Steel West/Surety specifically requested that they be given a credit for the entire \$22,390.75 they paid in PPI benefits associated with the 2005 accident. R., p. 45-46. Claimant objected to this Motion. R., p.71-72.

On April 5, 2013, the Commission entered its Order to Clarify granting Steel West/Surety's Motion and gave them a credit for the entire 15% permanent impairment that had already been paid by Steel West/Surety, which calculated to the sum of \$22,390.75. R., p. 89-90. Claimant filed the first appeal in this case requesting that this Court reverse the Commission's Order to Clarify dated April 5, 2013. R., p. 92.

As a part of the Commission's July 26, 2012 Order, it discussed Dr. Himmler's notation of mild bladder incontinence and partial sexual dysfunction. R., p. 26, (see para. 17). The Commission also noted that urologist Douglas Norman, M.D., examined claimant in 2006 and found no indication of neurogenic bladder. R., p. 26, (see para. 17). Dr. Himmler had given a 5% whole person impairment rating for the bladder incontinence and partial sexual dysfunction. Joint Exhibit "G" at 14. However, the Commission did not award the 5% impairment for the bladder incontinence and partial sexual dysfunction. R., p. 41. This portion of the Order leaves the Claimant with an 8% PPI rating given to him by Dr. Himmler for his 2005 back injury, prior to Claimant's 2009 lumbar fusion surgery. Joint Exhibit "G" at 14. Claimant was paid the 8% in PPI benefits in 2006 and 2007. Joint Exhibit "V" at 5. A 2005 PPI rating of 8% calculates to 40 weeks at the 2005 PPI rate of \$298.65 (2005 average state weekly wage of \$543.00 times 55% equals \$298.65/week) for a total sum of \$11,946.00. Based on the Commission's decision Claimant concedes that Steel West/Surety overpayment calculates as follows:

- 1. Total PPI benefits paid by Surety.....\$ 22.390.75
- 2. Less 8% whole person PPI benefits paid in 2006 and 2007......<u>\$-11,946.00</u>
- 3. PPI overpayment by Steel West/Surety......<u>\$10,444.75</u>

Claimant concedes that Steel West/Surety should be given a credit of \$10,444.75 for this overpayment to their obligation to pay the Claimant the sum of \$99,599.78 under the *Carey* formula for a total net payout of \$89,155.03, if this Court affirms the Commission's July 26, 2012 decision and finds ISIF liability has been established.

9

Finally, Steel West/Surety and ISIF do not dispute the Commission's finding that Claimant is entitled to total and permanent disability benefits. The second appeal filed by ISIF asks this Court to decide who should pay the Claimant his total and permanent disability benefits for life. None of the Defendants in this case are arguing that the Claimant should not receive total and permanent disability benefits for life.

#### II. ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Idaho Code §72-408 is the statutory basis for payment of total and permanent disability benefits. Idaho Code §72-408 has no provision for a credit to be given to a surety for PPI or disability benefits it paid prior to the time it became obligated to pay total and permanent disability benefits. Did the Commission err by relying on Idaho Code §72-425 and holding Steel West/Surety is entitled to a credit for PPI benefits it paid prior to Commission finding Claimant was totally and permanently disabled?

#### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"When this Court reviews a decision of the Industrial Commission, it exercises free review over questions of law, but reviews question of fact only to determine whether substantial and competent evidence supports the Commission's findings." *Gooby v. Lake Shore Mgmt. Co.*, 136 Idaho 79, 82 (2001). "Substantial and competent evidence is relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion." *Id.* Therefore, the Commission's "conclusions on the credibility and weight of the evidence will not be disturbed on appeal unless they are clearly erroneous." *Id.* 

Additionally, the Idaho Supreme Court exercises "free review" over the interpretation of statutes when such interpretations are at issue. *Parkwest Homes, LLC v. Barnson*, 302 P.3d 18, 22 (2013).

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

# A. IDAHO CODE §72-408 IS THE STATUTORY BASIS FOR PAYMENT OF TOTAL AND PERMANENT DISABILITY BENEFITS AND IT HAS NO PROVISION FOR A CREDIT TO BE GIVEN TO A SURETY FOR PPI BENEFITS IT PAID PRIOR TO THE TIME IT BECAME OBLIGATED TO PAY TOTAL AND PERMANENT DISABILITY BENEFITS TO A CLAIMANT.

Idaho Code §72-408 is the statutory basis for payment of total and permanent disability benefits. Idaho Code §72-408 has no provision for a credit to be given to a surety for PPI or disability benefits it paid prior to the time it became obligated to pay total and permanent disability benefits. Did the Commission err by relying on Idaho Code §72-425 and holding Steel West/Surety is entitled to a credit for PPI benefits it paid prior to Commission finding Claimant was totally and permanently disabled? Yes.

## 1. Statutory construction – Plain Language Controls

The purpose of the Workmen's Compensation Act in Idaho "was to provide sure and certain relief for injured workers and their dependents." *Hogaboom v. Economy Mattress*, 107 Idaho 13, 17 (1984). To fulfill this purpose, sure and certain relief should be provided "regardless of questions of fault and to the exclusion of every other remedy, proceeding or compensation, except as is otherwise provided in this act." *Haldiman v. American Fine Foods*, 117 Idaho 955, 956 (1990)

When interpreting these statutory laws, the Courts "primary function" is to "give effect to the legislative intent." *Parkwest Homes, 302 P.3d at 22.* The court should look first to the language of the statute, if the statutory language "is unambiguous, its plain language controls." *Pioneer Irrigation Dist. v. City of Caldwell*, 153 Idaho 593, 597 (2012).

In additional to these general rules of statutory construction, when dealing will Idaho worker's compensation laws, this Court has consistently adhered to the well-established principle of liberally construing law in favor of claimant. *Haldiman*, 117 Idaho at 956. "This liberal construction principle has been applied in several cases to determine whether an employee is entitled to a particular benefit" and "in these cases this Court has frequently construed statutes in a manner that favors the award of benefits." *Id*.

In this case, by keeping in mind the liberal construction principle and the need to provide sure and certain relief to injured worker, Claimant should be entitled to \$99,599.78 in total and permanent disability benefits subject only to a reduction for the overpayment of \$10,444.75

#### 2. Idaho Code §72-408

The Commission has found and all Defendants now agree, Claimant is totally and permanently disabled. None of the Defendants dispute this finding by the Commission. The Defendants are now arguing over **who** should pay Claimant the total and permanent disability benefits the Claimant won before the Commission.

The Commission used Idaho Code §72-425 to "evaluate" Claimants disability by looking at "permanent impairment and … pertinent nonmedical factors". R., p. 31, (see para. 32). After evaluating the "permanent impairment and … pertinent nonmedical factors" of this case the Commission found Claimant was in fact 100% disabled. R., p. 35, (see para. 40). Since Claimant was found to be totally and permanently disabled he is now entitled to be paid total and permanent disability benefits by the Surety and ISIF together under the *Carey* formula or by the Surety alone. However, Claimant cannot rely on Idaho Code §72-425 as a statutory basis for payment of these benefits because this code section does not provide for the payment of any workers compensation benefits. Idaho Code §72-425 only directs how to evaluate a claimant's disability. It does not direct how much the claimant should be paid in benefits, nor does it set forth any deductions or limitations on benefits.

Claimant must rely solely on Idaho Code §72-408 for the statutory basis for the payment of his total and permanent disability benefits. This section of the Idaho Code reads as follows:

72-408. Income benefits for total and partial disability. Income benefits for total and partial disability during the period of recovery, and <u>thereafter in cases</u> of total and permanent disability, shall be paid to the disabled employee subject

to deduction on account of waiting period and subject to the maximum and minimum limits set forth in section 72-409, Idaho Code, as follows:

(1) For a period not to exceed a period of fifty-two (52) weeks, an amount equal to sixty-seven per cent (67%) of his average weekly wage and thereafter an amount equal to sixty-seven per cent (67%) of the currently applicable average weekly state wage.

(2) Partial disability. For partial disability during the period of recovery an amount equal to sixty-seven per cent (67%) of his decrease in wage-earning capacity, but in no event to exceed the income benefits payable for total disability.

#### Idaho Code § 72-408 (emphasis added)

Idaho Code § 72-408 provides for the payment of income benefits to an injured worker in two circumstances including: 1) during the period of recovery when an injured worker has suffered a total or partial disability, or 2) after the period of recovery when an injured worker has been found to be totally and permanently disabled. Idaho Code § 72-408; *Nielson v. Industrial Special Indem. Fund*, 106 Idaho 878, 883 (1984)(; *Phinney v. Shoshone Med. Ctr.*, 131 Idaho 529, 532-533 (1998). This second type of benefit paid under Idaho Code § 72-408 becomes a lifetime benefit, which is payable until the injured worker dies. It is unlike any other income benefit paid under the workers compensation law in Idaho.

Based upon the plain reading of Idaho Code § 72-408, it is clear to see that it is the statutory basis for the payment of total and permanent disability benefits. But, there is one thing for certain, Idaho Code § 72-408 does not contain any provision for a surety to take an offset, credit or reduction for PPI benefits against the surety's obligation to pay total and permanent disability benefits when the claimant has been found to be totally and permanently disabled. The language of this statute could not be plainer.

There is no case holding Idaho Code §72-425 or Idaho Code §72-408 allows for a credit against total and permanent disability benefits for PPI benefits paid by a surety prior to the claimant being found to be totally and permanently disabled. That is because the statutory provision does not exist.

In 2005, Claimant was injured in a work related accident while working at Steel West. R., p. 24, (see para. 13). After reaching maximum medical improvement in December of 2005, Claimant was awarded PPI benefits. Joint Exhibit G at 4; R., p. 53. These benefits were calculated and paid to Claimant under Idaho Code § 72-429. This Court has indicated that Idaho Code § 72-429, along with its companion section, § Idaho Code 72-428, deal with benefit payments for disabilities that are less than total. *Carey v. Clearwater County Rd. Dep't*, 107 Idaho 109, 116 (1984). Claimant's PPI benefits were paid under these disability benefit statutes.

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