# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-21-2013

# Corgatelli v. Steel West Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41012

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

#### ARGUMENT

For the purposes of this brief, it is appropriate to clearly and distinctly set out the standards of appellate review which we believe to be applicable.

The Idaho Supreme Court's jurisdiction in appeals from decisions of the Industrial

Commission in workers' compensation cases is limited to a review of questions of law. Tarbet v. J.

R. Simplot Co., 151 Idaho 755, 264 P.3d 394 (2011) citing McAlpin v. Wood River Med. Ctr. 129

Idaho 1, 3-4, 921 P.2d 178, 180-81 (1996); Idaho Const. Art. V, § 9.

Within Paoliniv. Albertsons, Inc., 143 Idaho 547, 149 P.3d 822 (2006), the Court reaffirmed

its standard for review of statutes:

[2-8] "The interpretation of a statute is a question of law over which we exercise free review." *McLean v. Maverick Country Stores, Inc.*, 142 Idaho 810, 813, 135 P.3d 756, 769 (2006). "This Court must construe a statute to give effect to the intent of the legislature." *Carrier v. Lake Pend Oreille School Dist.* #184, 142 Idaho 804, 807, 134 P.3d 655, 658 (2006). "It must begin with the literal words of the statute; those words must be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning; and the statute must be construed as a whole." *McLean v. Maverick Country Stores, Inc.*, 142 Idaho 810, 813, 135, P.3d 756, 759 (2006) (citations omitted). "Statutes that are *in pari materia* must be construed together to effect legislative intent. Statutes are in *pari materia* if they relate to the same subject." *City of Sandpoint v. Sandpoint Indep. Highway Dist.*, 139 Idaho 65, 69, 72 P.3d 905, 909 (2003) (citations omitted).

A statute is to be construed as a whole and words should be given their plain, usual and

ordinary meaning. It should be noted that the Court must give effect to all the words and provisions

of the statute so that none will be void, superfluous or redundant. When the statutory language is

unambiguous, the clearly expressed intent of the legislative body must be given effect. *Farber v. Idaho State Insurance Fund*, 147 Idaho 307, 208 P.3d 289 (2009).

However, the legal issue of this claim as brought by the Claimant needs to be put into perspective.

There was no issue raised by Claimant that the subject payments should have been characterized as temporary disability payment during a period of medical recovery. Claimant has not disputed that the subject payments were made by the Employer/Surety as payment of permanent impairment.

This Employer/Surety has not filed Cross-Appeal to assert that it should be allowed off-set of the disputed permanent impairment/permanent disability benefits paid within the previous Lump Sum Settlement Agreement back in1996.

Instead, the sum and substance of Claimant's Appeal is to advocate that the Employer/Surety is to pay the permanent impairment benefit arising out of the subject injury and then upon further medical treatment/change of condition, the Employer/Surety is to then, again, to pay the permanent impairment as part of the total permanent disability.

Within Order to Clarify, page 2, the Industrial Commission addressed its determination:

Defendants, however, are correct that they should receive credit for PPI benefits already paid on this claim. Claimant's accident-related permanent impairment is part of his permanent disability. *See* Idaho Code § 72-425; *see also Eckhart v. ISIF*, 133 Idaho 260, 264, 985 P.2d 685, 689 (1999) ("The evaluation of permanent disability under § 72-425 includes consideration of all physical impairments that were

caused by the claimant's work-related injury...."). Because Claimant's disability is inclusive of his accident-related impairment, Defendants are entitled to credit for payments made on that impairment. Holding otherwise would essentially require Defendants to pay benefits on the same impairment rating twice. R., p. 90.

Idaho Code §72-425 provides:

Permanent disability evaluation. "Evaluation (rating) of permanent disability" is an appraisal of the injured employee's present and probable future ability to engage in gainful activity as it is affected by the medical factor of permanent impairment and by pertinent nonmedical factors as provided in § 72-430, Idaho Code.

The statute, itself, recognizes that permanent impairment is part of permanent disability.

The Employer/Surety asserts that § 72-425 Idaho Code is clear that total disability is

inclusive of permanent impairment and not supplemental to that permanent impairment.

Claimant's argument, if followed to its conclusion, would illogically allow a claimant to concurrently receive both permanent impairment benefit and total disability benefit at the same time. For example, in the situation of a exemplar claimant sustaining workplace accident injury resulting in a 60% permanent partial impairment rating, then the claimant temporarily returning to work, and undergoing change of the condition as to that same workplace injury within five years of the accident causing additional permanent activity restriction and then becoming totally and permanently disabled, Claimant's argument in the present case would allow that exemplar claimant to receive both the permanent partial impairment rating and the subsequent lifetime total permanent disability benefit.

The Employer/Surety urges further support to the statutory interpretation that the Employee's total disability benefit obligation is inclusive of the same accident paid permanent impairment can be found within § 72-406, Idaho Code.

Idaho Code § 72-406 provides:

Deductions for preexisting injuries and infirmities. (1) In cases of permanent disability less than total, if the degree or duration of disability resulting from an industrial injury or occupational disease is increased or prolonged because of a preexisting physical impairment, the employer shall be liable only for the additional disability from the industrial injury or occupational disease.

(2) Any income benefits previously paid an injured workman for permanent disability to any member or part of his body shall be deducted from the amount of income benefits provided for the permanent disability to the same member or part of his body caused by a change in his physical condition or by a subsequent injury or occupational disease.

Subsection (1) specifically addresses cases of permanent disability less than total. Subsection

(2) contains no such modifier. Therefore by reading the statutes in pari materia, Subsection (2) is

applicable to cases of total permanent disability.

Statutes are to be construed as a whole so as to give effect to the intent of the Legislature.

It is submitted that Paragraph 2 of § 72-406, Idaho Code, specifically addresses the instant facts.

Claimant has been paid \$22,398.75 in permanent impairment benefit since the 2005 injury. Such

permanent impairment benefit amount should be inclusive within the statutory obligation of the

Employer/Surety in the apportionment of liability with the Second Injury Fund.

It is submitted that the public policy of Idaho is, avoid a claimant making a double recovery for the same injury. For instance, a similar reduction in reduction of worker's compensation benefit to avoid double compensation to the claimant occurs within the context of recovery in concurrent civil tort cases. *Schneider v. Farmers Merchant, Inc.*, 106 Idaho 241, 678 P.2d 33 (1983); *Barnett v. Eagle Helicopters, Inc.*, 123 Idaho 361, 848 P.2d 419 (1993); *Williams v. Blue Cross of Idaho*, 151 Idaho 515, 260 P.3d 1186 (2011).

A claimant who receives a permanent impairment rating for an industrial accident and then upon a change of medical condition to the same injured body part receives total permanent disability benefit without off-set of the initial permanent impairment rating is receiving a double recovery for the single injury.

At page 22 of his Opening Brief, Claimant has referred to the majority of the states law being that total and permanent disability benefits should not be reduced by prior paid PPD benefits or the PPI. He cites to *ARTHUR LARSON*, *LARSON'S WORKERS' COMPENSATION LAW* § 59.42 (c) (1997) as his authority.

The Employer/Surety would urge strong suspicion upon such an old treatise of greater than 26 years. Within current *LARSON'S*, that section number has been withdrawn and is reserved.

Instead, reference to *LARSON'S WORKERS' COMPENSATION, DESK EDITION* (2013) provides correlation to § 92.02[3]. That section within Chapter 92 EFFECT OF SUCCESSIVE OR CONCURRENT INJURIES ON MAXIMUM AWARD addresses the another but different familiar

combination of a claimant having a permanent partial award from one accident and subsequently sustaining permanent total disability from and unrelated accident.

Simply stated, current § 92.02[3] does not address the current appeal issue of Claimant seeking a determination that the permanent partial impairment sustained within the subject accident is not to be off-set against the total permanent disability award arising out of the same subject accident.

At page 22-23 of his Opening Brief, Claimant points to a Minnesota case. *Durant v. Butler Bros.*, 275 Minn. 487 (Minn. 1967) as persuasive authority.

Again, the Employer/Surety question the Claimant's reliance upon such case as having impact towards the present appeal as being misplaced.

The Minnesota Supreme Court specifically recognizes that the issue is one of statutory interpretation.

The Minnesota Supreme Court specifically recognizes that some states have specifically granted this credit. The Minnesota Supreme Court specifically identified then Idaho Code § 72-310 for the off-set credit and specifically cited to *Endicott v. Potlatch Forests*, 69 Idaho 450, 208 P.2d 803, as determining Idaho Code § 72-310 requires that the total temporary disability and permanent partial disability awarded an employee in an accident must be deducted from the subsequent award for permanent total disability.

In Endicott v. Potlatch Forests, supra, claimant had the single accident, but thereafter, entered

into successive disability agreement upon change of condition with the employer for a total of 400 weeks. He then sought award upon total permanent disability without off-set for the prior 400 weeks of award.

The Supreme Court rejected this contention finding that the statute was clear, plain and explicit and upheld the off-set of the prior 400 weeks of award.

The Employer/Surety submits that the present Idaho workers' compensation statutes including § 72-406(2), § 72-425, and the instant case involving the Second Injury Fund of § 72-332(1), as well as the public policy benefit of a claimant not receiving a double recovery, should be interpreted so that this Claimant is not to receive a double recovery of permanent impairment and another permanent impairment contained within the permanent total disability apportionment.

## CONCLUSION

In summary, it is requested that this Appeal of the Claimant be denied and that the Court hold upon statutory and public policy authority that an employer/surety may off-set the impairment benefit paid within a subject accident against the later award of total permanent disability arising out of change of condition.

It is requested that the Industrial Commission decision be affirmed and Respondent Employer/Surety be awarded its costs.

The Employer/Surety again note that the Cross-Appellant did not file a Cross-Appellant Appeal Brief within the time stated for filing an Appellant's Brief and will address its issues when

such Cross-Appellant Appeal Brief is filed.